Filed 11-23-2020

Page 1 of 54

FILED 11-23-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2020AP001362-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOVAN T. MULL,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable J.D. Watts and the Honorable Joseph R. Wall presiding.

> BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

> > CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087502

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 augustc@opd.wi.gov

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Is Mr. Mull entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice?
- 2. Was trial counsel ineffective for not presenting a third-party perpetrator defense at trial?

The circuit court concluded that counsel's performance was neither deficient nor prejudicial.

3. Was trial counsel ineffective for not moving to remedy the injection of hearsay testimony about an alleged "confession" by Mr. Mull?

The trial court concluded that counsel's performance was neither deficient nor prejudicial.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Because the case is highly fact-intensive and involves the application of settled precedents, publication is not requested. Oral argument may be helpful, however, given the complexity of the factual background.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An information filed in Milwaukee County Circuit Court charged Jovan Mull (Jovan) with firstdegree reckless homicide, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.02(1). (3:1). Jovan was convicted after a jury trial and sentenced to a term of imprisonment. (57:1; 64:1). (App. 101). Jovan filed a postconviction motion requesting an evidentiary hearing on his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. (82). The motion also requested that the circuit court exercise its discretionary authority and grant a new trial in the interest of justice. (82). The court denied the motion in a written order without a hearing. (97). (App. 103).

Jovan appealed. (100:1). This Court remanded for an evidentiary hearing on several of Jovan's ineffectiveness claims. *State v. Mull*, Appeal No. 2018AP1349-CR, unpublished slip op., (Wis. Ct. App. July 23, 2019) (per curiam).¹ (App. 112). Following further proceedings, the circuit court once again denied the motion for a new trial. (118). (App. 165).

This appeal follows. (121).

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

The Party

On March 7, 2015, Shaquita Williams was attending a house party on 17th and Galena in Milwaukee. (84:11). When police shut the party down later that evening, Shaquita "told everyone to come to her house on N. 35th Street." (84:11). That residence was occupied by Shaquita and her girlfriend, the eventual victim in this case, Ericka Walker. (84:11; 82:40).

This gathering was a reoccurring "teen party" for younger LGBT-identified individuals. (82:35).

¹ The opinion is included in the index as #103.

These parties were advertised on social media and, in this case, attendees were notified via text that the location had been changed to Ericka's home. (82:35). According to Davion Crumble, one of Ericka's friends, her home would have been familiar to the partygoers, as Ericka had hosted at least two similar "after sets" there. (83:58). While these parties were usually restricted to LGBT attendees, there were occasionally "mixed" parties which "straight" individuals were welcome to attend. (82:40). The relocated party appears to have been "mixed." (82:40).

On this night, however, Ericka had no idea that her home was to be the site of a wild house party. According to Tramell Allen, a houseguest, Ericka was in her bedroom, with the door closed, by 11 P.M. (82:40). Tramell was one of three houseguests: in addition to Tramell, Davion Crumble (a/k/a "D-Boy"), and a high schooler named "Kenta" were also staying at the residence. (82:39-40).

While none of these individuals were expecting that excited partygoers would show up on the doorstep, that appears to be what happened: Tramell told police that around midnight he observed "a whole bunch of cars pull up" and at that point knew there was going to be a party. (82:40). Shortly thereafter, partygoers started lining up outside. (83:7). The house filled up quickly, with one attendee asserting that there may have been up to 100 people inside. (82:60).

The First Fight

Unfortunately, it did not take long for things to get out of hand. Shortly after the party started,

Tramell's boyfriend, Desmand Butler (a/k/a "Boy O-Lay"), began arguing with Tramell's friend, Davion. (82:40). The argument escalated and "turned physical." (82:43). Additional participants joined in before the fight was broken up. (83:59).

Keshawna Wright, a partygoer who was new to the scene, watched the first fight. (82:34-35).² She later recalled that Davion remained agitated after the fight was broken up and that he was challenging other partygoers to fight him. (82:34). Davion corroborated this, later telling police that he "was still mad and wanted to continue to fight." (83:59).

Meanwhile, another partygoer, Demon Harris, witnessed a man in a red shirt proclaim, shortly after the fight was broken up, "they don't wanna fight me cause I have this heat on me." (82:38). He saw a second man, "wearing all red," who also claimed to have a gun. (82:38).

In addition to the lingering tensions from the recently broken-up fight, the party appears to have been suffused with an atmosphere suggesting further impending violence. In part, this stemmed from the nature of the party itself: According to Tramell, the "mixed" parties could be dangerous, as "there would always seem to be fights between the straight and gay partygoers." (82:40).

 $^{^2}$ In the police report, Davion appears as "Trayvion." It is unclear to whom this error should be imputed; Keshawna told police she did not know the people at the house very well. In any case, context makes clear that she is referring to Davion Crumble.

The Second Fight

That assessment turned out to be wholly accurate with respect to this party, which was attended by a group of straight partygoers including Vashawn Smith and his friend Menjuan Bankhead. (83:24). Both men had troubled pasts and were under probationary supervision.³

According to Menjuan, Tyler Harris was also "[hanging] around with [Vashawn] at the party." (83:34). Although Menjuan denied having anything to do with Tyler on the night of the party, Tyler told police he went out that evening in the company of both Vashawn and Menjuan. (84:21). Both Tyler and Menjuan would later be identified as possessing guns. (84:48; 84:52). And, while Vashawn would deny that he had a gun during the party, he also told police that he "usually" carried one with him. (83:12).

This group was stationed near the kitchen during the first fight and watched the scuffle between the gay men. (135:64). After the fight ended, Vashawn later remembered "One of them come our way." (135:65). As Vashawn later told police, he "doesn't talk to faggots." (82:2). In Desmand's account, one of the straight partygoers yelled out to

³ Vashawn testified at trial that he had one prior conviction, which based on CCAP records, appears to have been felony child abuse for intentionally causing harm to a child. (135:59). Vashawn was eventually arrested at his probation agent's office. (83:7). Menjuan Bankhead told the police he was also "on paper" at the time of the shooting. (83:33). According to CCAP, Menjuan has multiple prior felony convictions including a 2012 conviction for being a felon in possession of a firearm.

Filed 11-23-2020

the gay men involved in the fight and called them "bitch ass fags." (83:5).

Davion "bumped into" the man Keshawna would later identify as Ericka's killer. (82:34). Vashawn confirmed he was the person who had been bumped into. (135:65). A second fight broke out, with Davion on one side and Vashawn and 3-4 of his friends on the other. (82:34).

Elicia Burrows, another partygoer, confirmed that the fight started between two gay men but that another subject who was not gay got involved when the fight moved from the kitchen into the living room. (82:31). Dejuan Harris, Demon Harris' brother, likewise confirmed that the second fight was "between [Davion] and the straight boys." (82:43).⁴ During the fight, Desmand witnessed a black man with a Wisconsin Badgers sweatshirt brandishing a handgun while threatening to "shoot the place up." (83:5).

At this point, the party devolved into one "big brawl." (135:66). Vashawn was backed up by his friends, including Menjuan. (113:66; 83:28). Meanwhile, Davion quickly found himself outnumbered—with Vashawn and ten other males on one side versus Davion and his friend Kenta on the other. (83:59).

⁴ Demon Harris also stated that Davion had been "jumped by straight guys." (82:41).

One of Davion's friends then took Davion into Ericka's bedroom. (82:43).⁵ Inside the bedroom, partygoers barricaded the door with a dresser to prevent the other fighters from entering. (83:60). However, Davion managed to crack the door open, Kenta threw a bottle out and, at one point, Davion jabbed a broomstick out the door at the fighters on the other side. (83:60).

Demon Harris saw the straight man who had been "arguing" with Davion, accompanied by two other men, trying to enter the bedroom into which Davion had retreated. (82:38). Demon Harris' account was corroborated by Alphonso Carter, who noticed that two of those men were armed. (135:124; 83:21). He heard one of the men say, "Shoot in there." (135:124). Police eventually spoke with another evewitness, Jalyn Lynch, who told police that this individual was Menjuan Bankhead, and asserted that they heard "Bankhead yelling shoot, shoot into the door, after seeing him with the gun." (84:52). they heard Menjuan state, Eventually, "Shoot through that motherfucker." (84:52).

The Shooting

Menjuan's directive was followed by a volley of shots. (84:52). Those shots passed through the flimsy door, missed the combatants from the earlier fight, and fatally wounded Ericka. (83:60).

⁵ Dejuan Harris told police that he was the person who had pulled Davion into the bedroom; other partygoers identified different partygoers, including Ericka, as occupying that role during the fight.

The shooting was witnessed by multiple partygoers. According to Keshawna, a black man with a red and black hoodie pulled out a gun and fired 5-6 shots into the bedroom door. (82:25; 82:34). Channell Howard confirmed that the shooter had a sweatshirt with a red hood, although she described a slightly different hairstyle. (82:29).⁶

Likewise, Charles Cantrell agreed that the shooter had been wearing a red hoodie earlier in the night, although he remembered the shooter having taken that sweatshirt off before firing the fatal shots. (82:50). Menjuan would later tell police that his red Wisconsin Badgers sweatshirt was pulled off during the fight. (83:29).

Elicia confirmed it was one of the "straight" men who fired the fatal shots and that he was intending to hit one of the gay partygoers. (82:32). She believed him to be a younger man, with a black and blue sweatshirt. (82:31). Michael Allen also witnessed the shooting and told police the shooter had a hoodie with a red sleeve. (83:2).

Vashawn's friend, Casie James, initially told police that she was outside of the home with Vashawn and Menjuan when the shots were fired. (83:24). She then told police that she met up with Vashawn and Menjuan *after* the shots were fired and therefore placed them in the house at the time of the shooting. (83:23-25). Menjuan was bleeding and smeared blood on the car as they drove away from the scene. (83:25).

 $^{^{6}}$ She later asserted the hood was black, not red. (82:62).

The Investigation

Shortly after the shooting, police were put in touch with Cheyenne Pugh, who did not attend the party, but who received text messages from someone who did. (82:54). That person told Cheyenne that a man he knew as Bush—Vashawn Smith's nickname—shot into the room hoping to hit one of the "fags" inside. (82:54). Keshawna was then shown a photo array and identified Vashawn as the person she had seen shooting the gun. (82:56).

As a result, Vashawn became a "named suspect in this incident." (82:57). In addition to law enforcement suspicion that he had murdered Ericka, Vashawn also had an outstanding probation warrant and two municipal warrants. (82:57). He was eventually arrested at his probation agent's office. (82:58). At the time he was arrested, Vashawn knew rumors were flying on social media that he had killed Ericka. (83:9).

In Vashawn's first custodial interview, he admitted to being involved in the fight, which started when one of the "gay guys" bumped into him. (83:8). He told police that his friend, Menjuan, had been involved, too. (83:8). According to Vashawn, he recalled seeing a man he knew as "D" on top of Menjuan. (83:8). "D" was removed from Menjuan's back and escorted to the bedroom. (83:8). Shortly thereafter, Vashawn told police he heard shots being

Filed 11-23-2020

fired and, when he looked up, witnessed Jovan (who he knew as Woadie) pointing a gun.⁷ (83:8).

Notably, Vashawn and Jovan were not friends; while he knew Jovan, he had not seen him for roughly one to one-and-a-half years prior to the party. (83:7). The last time they interacted, the two men had a disagreement and almost got into a fight. (83:7).

Police also confronted Vashawn with photographs obtained from Facebook, in which he can be seen flaunting multiple handguns. (83:9). He admitted that the guns were real and that he was the man in the pictures. (83:9).

Despite his story inculpating an alternative suspect, police kept the pressure on Vashawn, interrogating him a second time the next day. (83:12). Although police probed at Vashawn's story, he "continued to deny any involvement in this shooting incident." (83:12).

The following day, police conducted a third custodial interview, telling Vashawn "he had not been honest and that it was time to be honest about what had occurred." (83:14). In response, Vashawn offered new information inculpating a different suspect—his friend, Tyler Harris. (83:15). Vashawn told police that he witnessed Tyler with a gun prior to the shooting. (83:15). He told police he spoke to Tyler

 $^{^{7}}$ Vashawn subsequently identified Jovan in a photo array as the person he saw with the gun. (84:14).

Filed 11-23-2020

shortly after the shooting and that Tyler told him, "I emptied my clip." (83:15).

In a fourth custodial interview, Vashawn told police that Tyler was wearing a red Wisconsin Badgers hoodie and that he had concealed his handgun inside that garment. (83:19). In Vashawn's account, he left the residence in the company of Menjuan Bankhead, briefly losing track of Tyler around the time of the shooting. (83:19). Afterwards, Tyler admitted to emptying his clip and told Vashawn to "get out of here." (83:19). Vashawn understood Tyler to mean that he had just shot his gun at the party. (83:19). He further admitted that he had intentionally concealed this information because he wanted to protect Tyler, who he considered a "family member." (83:19). He stated that Tyler had also made statements on Facebook about needing to "stay low." (83:20). "[Vashawn] stated he believes T.H. said this because he was shooting his gun at the party." (83:20).

As a result of this new information, police arrested Tyler. (84:41). At least one other witness identified Tyler in a photo lineup as having a gun at the party. (84:48). Tyler admitted he was at the party with Vashawn and Menjuan on the night of the shooting. (84:21-22).

Law enforcement also arrested Menjuan, suspecting him of being a party to the crime of this homicide. (84:51). Jalyn Lynch's statement, memorialized in the probable cause affidavit, places Menjuan in front of the bedroom door with a firearm. (84:52). Menjuan admitted to wearing a red Wisconsin Badgers sweatshirt during the party. (83:32).⁸ Menjuan denied any involvement, telling police that he was outside the house when the shots were fired. (83:29). He could not account for Vashawn's location during the shooting, telling police Vashawn met up with him outside after the shots had been fired. (83:33).

Menjuan also told police that Vashawn had been "stressed out and laying low" after the shooting. (83:34). He confirmed that Tyler had been hanging around with Vashawn, but disclaimed that he had anything to do with Tyler on the night of the party. (83:34). He told police to talk to his friend, Sanchez Harris, who had information supporting the claim that Jovan was the shooter. (83:35).

At Menjuan's urging, police spoke to Sanchez Harris, who told them he rode to the party with "Woadie," later identified as Jovan, along with his brothers Demon and Dejuan. (83:42). According to Sanchez, Jovan told him he had a gun. (83:42).

Sanchez told police that he witnessed someone in a Wisconsin Badgers sweatshirt and "Rock Revival pants" fire into the door. (83:43). Vashawn Smith was wearing this style of pants during the party. (83:32). When asked, however, Sanchez told police Jovan "had to be" the shooter. (83:43). He confirmed that he only came to the police at the request of Menjuan's pregnant girlfriend. (83:43). He identified Jovan as the shooter in a photo lineup. (84:1).

 $^{^{8}}$ Keshawna Wright identified this as the sweatshirt worn by the shooter. (83:48).

- -

Page 18 of 54

Jovan was also identified as the shooter by Desmand Butler and Alphonso Carter. (84:5; 84:8). According to police reports, Jovan's photo was being "circulated" in the community around the same time that these identification procedures were conducted. (83:35). However, at least three other witnesses— Keshawna Wright, Charles Cantrell and Elicia Burrows-failed to identify Jovan as the shooter. (83:48; 84:25; 84:27). Likewise, Jalyn Lynch told police they did not see Jovan at the party after having been shown a photograph of him. (83:50). In addition to witness statements, law enforcement also utilized a snitch-Jovan's codefendant in another felony case. (83:53). That individual told police, after having been arrested for numerous serious felonies, that Jovan had admitted to the shooting. (83:54).

The Trial

The State ultimately charged Jovan Mull, and only Jovan Mull, with the shooting death of Ericka Walker. (1). No charges were ever issued against Menjuan Bankhead or Tyler Harris in connection with the shooting or their illicit possession of firearms while at the party. And, while Vashawn was charged with being a felon in possession of a firearm as a result of the evidence discovered during this investigation, the prosecutor in this case appeared on behalf of the State and moved to dismiss that case prior to Vashawn's cooperation at Jovan's eventual trial. (84:58).

In opening, the prosecutor told the jury that the shooting and the fight were connected. (134:26). The prosecutor also told the jury that Vashawn had initially been arrested as a suspect. (134:27). In the

prosecutor's telling, Vashawn was only ever identified as being at the party and was "not the shooter." (134:27).

Likewise, defense counsel referenced Vashawn's arrest but made no mention that he had been identified as the shooter by an eyewitness. (134:31). He also made a brief, vague reference to Tyler Harris having a gun at the party and Vashawn "covering" for him. (134:31).

Cheyenne Pugh was one of the State's first citizen witnesses. (135:2). Cheyenne told the jury she received two apparent tips about the shooter's identity. She confirmed that she was originally told that Vashawn was the shooter. (135:40). She also testified that she later received information inculpating Jovan. (135:35).

Cheyenne testified that Ericka's girlfriend, Shaquita, had told her, "everybody going around saying it's a young dude that's light skinned with dreads named Woadie." (135:36). She described showing Shaquita a photo of Vashawn and Shaquita telling her that this was not Ericka's killer. (135:36). She testified that multiple people were claiming the shooter was a light-skinned man with dreadlocks. According to Chevenne, "they" (135:45).said "Woadie" (Jovan's nickname) was the shooter. (135:45). Chevenne also testified that she had received Jovan's picture from yet another out-of-court speaker and that a woman named Kia Wade had told her that Jovan "was in the hood bragging about it." (135:46).

There was no objection to this testimony, and on cross-examination trial counsel continued to question Cheyenne about information she received about the shooter's identity. (135:54). Cheyenne then engaged in an uninterrupted narrative, in which she ultimately stated:

> And also another lady was telling me about him [Jovan] going -- being in the hood bragging about it saying that he hit a lick over there on 35th and he killed the stud bitch.

(135:54). Detective Michael Washington testified that police used the information provided by Cheyenne to connect Jovan with the "Woadie" nickname. (136:20).

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