FILED 08-29-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### IN SUPREME COURT

#### Case No. 2020AP1362-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

JOVAN T. MULL,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Review from a Court of Appeals Decision Reversing a Postconviction Order and Remanding for a New Trial in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Jonathan D. Watts and the Honorable Joseph R. Wall, Presiding

> RESPONSE BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

> > CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087502

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

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  The State cites *United States v. Best*, 426 F.3d 937, 945 (7th Cir. 2015), for the proposition that decisions about which witnesses to call can never form the basis for an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. (State's Br. at 19). This overstates the persuasive force of *Best*, which holds that a "conscious" decision as to which witness to call based on a reasonable underlying investigation will not constitute deficient performance.

Even so, this Court has plainly held that "[f]ailure to call a potential witness may constitute deficient performance." *State* v. *Jenkins*, 2014 WI 59, ¶41, 355 Wis. 2d 180, 848 N.W.2d 786. An attorney's failure to call a witness whose testimony would have been central to the theory of defense can also constitute deficient performance. *State* v. *White*, 2004 WI App 78, ¶¶ 20-21, 271 Wis. 2d 742, 680 N.W.2d 362.

Page 26 of 57

favorable mitigation evidence relating to a traumatic childhood. *Id.* at 516-517. Defense counsel explained, however, that he made a strategic choice to instead focus on disputing the factual basis for the conviction. *Id.* This explanation was accepted by the lower courts before being rejected by the United States Supreme Court, which found counsel's rationale incompatible with the record evidence and therefore not deserving of deference. *Id.* at 526.

Finally, it is also clear that some kinds of decisions are *per se* unreasonable, such as decisions evincing legal ignorance. *Morrison*, 477 U.S. at 385. The same can be said for "implausible" justifications offered at a postconviction motion hearing. *Id.* at 386. Moreover, mere inattention and oversight cannot be the basis for a reasoned exercise of strategic judgment. *Wiggins*, 539 U.S. at 534.

- B. Counsel's failure to present evidence in support of a third-party perpetrator defense was objectively unreasonable.
  - 1. The State has forfeited any argument that the evidence against Smyth, Bankhead, and/or Tyler would not have been admissible evidence of third-party guilt. This evidence satisfies the criteria for admissibility.

In his postconviction motion, Mr. Mull argued that evidence of third-party guilt existed with respect to each of the three alternative perpetrators—Smyth, Bankhead, and Tyler. (82:12). In the court of appeals, the State argued that a third-party defense was legally unavailable. (State's Ct. App. Br. at 15). However, the State did not actually respond to the bulk of Mr. Mull's arguments. (Ct. App. Reply Br. at 10). The court of appeals then reversed and remanded for a new trial, concluding that the "evidence Mull identifies meets the standard for a third-party perpetrator defense." *Mull II*, Appeal No. 2020AP1362-CR, ¶ 24. (App. 35).

In its petition for review, the State alleged that review was necessary because the court of appeals did not correctly apply the standard for admitting evidence of third-party guilt. (Petition for Review at 19). However, the State did not specifically explain how it arrived at this conclusion. The State now renews its argument that *Denny*<sup>11</sup> was wrongly applied and faults the court of appeals for "glossing over" that case's legal requirements. (State's Br. at 24).

Yet, the State fails to develop a comprehensive argument and does not detail what components of *Denny*'s three-prong test Mr. Mull would have difficulty meeting. Because the State has failed to adequately develop or present the argument, it is forfeited. *State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992); see also Town of Wilson v. *City of Sheboygan*, 2020 WI 16, ¶ 24 n.15, 390 Wis. 2d 266, 938 N.W.2d 493 (*Pettit* rule applies in this Court).

27

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> State v. Denny, 120 Wis. 2d 614, 357 N.W.2d 12 (Ct. App. 1984).

Page 28 of 57

"In order to present evidence and make argument suggesting that a third party may have committed the charged crime, a defendant must show that the third party had (1) opportunity; (2) motive; and (3) a direct connection to the crime that is not remote in time, place or circumstances." *State v. Vollbrecht*, 2012 WI App 90, ¶ 25, 344 Wis. 2d 69, 820 N.W.2d 443. Evaluating the record evidence, it is clear that counsel could have presented a third-party perpetrator defense and satisfied the legal standard with respect to each of the alternative perpetrators.

With respect to Smyth, the court of appeals previously summarized that record evidence:

The evidence implicating Smyth includes the following. The person who bumped into Smyth and started the fight was one of the people who retreated with E.W. to the bedroom and then continued to throw objects out the bedroom door. Smyth told police that he was "close by" the shooter when the shooting through the bedroom door occurred. Smyth's girlfriend told police that Smyth was in the house during the shooting and met up with her at her car after the shots were fired. An eyewitness named Keshawna Wright, who did not testify at trial, identified Smyth as the shooter in a police photo array, and stated that she was "absolutely certain" that Smyth was the shooter.

*Mull I*, Appeal No. 2018AP1349-CR, ¶ 22. (App. 12-13). Thus, Smyth: (1) had an opportunity to commit the crime, as he was present when the fatal shots were fired; (2) had a motive to shoot at the people in the room, with whom he was engaged in an ongoing brawl; and (3) had a direct connection to that crime because he was observed committing it.

With respect to Bankhead, the court of appeals previously summarized that record evidence as follows:

The evidence implicating Bankhead includes the following. Bankhead is a friend of Smyth. Smyth's girlfriend placed Bankhead inside the house when the shooting occurred. Shortly after the shooting, an eyewitness, Jalyn Lynch, who did not testify at trial, told police investigators that, just prior to the shooting, Bankhead was trying to get into the bedroom, had a gun, and shouted, "shoot into the door" and "shoot through that motherfucker." Bankhead told police investigators that he was wearing a red Wisconsin Badgers sweatshirt at the party.

Mull I, Appeal No. 2018AP1349-CR, ¶ 24. (App. 13).

Thus, Bankhead: (1) had an opportunity to commit the crime, as he was present (with a gun) when the fatal shots were fired; (2) had a motive to shoot at the people in the room, with whom he was engaged in an ongoing brawl; and (3) had a direct connection to that crime because he was observed brandishing a firearm, standing where the shots would have been fired (in front of the door) and was shouting about shooting into the door.

## Finally, as to Tyler, the court of appeals summarized the record evidence as follows:

The evidence implicating Tyler Harris includes the following. Smyth and Tyler Harris were very close friends. Tyler Harris told police that he was "within a few feet" of the shooter when shots were fired. An eyewitness named De'Chanel Coveh, who did not testify at trial, picked Tyler Harris out of a police photo array as a person who possessed a gun at the party. Smyth told police that as he and Tyler Harris left the party, Tyler Harris told Smyth that he had "emptied [his] clip." Smyth also told police that Tyler Harris had posted a message online after the party to the effect that Tyler Harris needed to "stay low."

Mull I, Appeal No. 2018AP1349-CR, ¶ 23. (App. 13).

Thus, Tyler: (1) had an opportunity to commit the crime, as he was present (with a gun) when the fatal shots were fired; (2) had a motive to shoot at the people in the room, with whom his friends were engaged in an ongoing brawl; and (3) had a direct connection to that crime because he admitted to shooting his gun at the party.

2. Counsel's justifications at the postconviction hearing are unpersuasive, as are the State's arguments.

As the State notes, Attorney Guerin's stated reason for not presenting the third-party perpetrator evidence was that he could not find witnesses who would support the defense at trial. (State's Br. 23). This *post hoc* justification is flawed.

explanation the First. counsel's at postconviction hearing is not consistent with his actions before and during trial. While Mr. Mull's first attorney expressed a need for more time to adequately investigate the case, Attorney Guerin never put any such concerns on the record despite being given an opportunity to do so. For example, at the final pretrial, the State indicated it had some concerns about finding witnesses. (132:3). Trial counsel raised no such concerns and instead told the court he was anticipating calling up to four defense witnesses. (132:3). At the conclusion of the trial, he stated he was calling witnesses based on the not State's presentation; he made no record about witness unavailability. (138:4).

Second, it is not clear that counsel made the "conscious" strategic choice attributed to him by the State. Instead, Attorney Guerin explicitly promised the jury it would hear "different versions" of what happened and made a direct reference to Tyler Harris. (134:131-132). Attorney Guerin also told the jury that it would be required to determine the shooter's identity. (134:132). He then made a clumsy and unsuccessful effort to introduce Tyler's statement about shooting his gun at the party. (135:79).

However, counsel also repeatedly objected to helpful testimony concerning Smyth's status as a suspect. (135:37; 135:40; 135:44). Trial counsel's inconsistent and confusing approach is evidence of caprice and irrationality, not reasoned strategic judgment.

Third, contrary to the State's claim, Attorney Guerin was not particularly knowledgeable about the requirements for a third-party perpetrator defense. When asked to explain his understanding of the legal elements, counsel could only name two of the three *Denny* requirements—"motive, opportunity evidence." (142:10).

Fourth, counsel did not conduct a sufficient investigation. Counsel claimed that he used an investigator, although he got the name of that investigator wrong. (142:15; 143:3). No notes of the alleged investigation exist, either. (143:3). And, counsel could not recall any aspect of the investigation he claimed to have conducted. (142:13). The record is clear that counsel subpoenaed no witnesses, did not seek a continuance in order to locate witnesses, and did not ask the court for an order to procure their appearance.

Fifth, counsel's rationalization ignores that trial testimony elicited by the State would have also filled in many components of the third-party perpetrator defense. For example, Smyth testified and admitted to being present at the time of the shooting (opportunity) and being involved in the brawl (motive). Testimony from Sanchez and Smyth would have also established Bankhead's motive and opportunity, as that testimony places him at the party and involved in the fight. Finally, Smyth's testimony about Tyler being at the party with a gun would have also established *his* opportunity to commit the crime.

Sixth, counsel omitted other legal avenues toward admitting third-party perpetrator evidence.<sup>12</sup> As set forth in the briefs below, Keshawna Wright's statements implicating Smyth would have been admissible under Wis. Stat. §§ 908.045(4) or 908.045(2) if she was, in fact, unavailable to testify at trial. Jalyn Lynch's statements implicating Bankhead would be admissible under the same rationale. And, with respect to Tyler, his statement to Smyth—in which he admitted to committing the crime-would have been admissible under Wis. Stat. § 908.045(4) if he was unavailable either because he could not be located or because he exercised his Fifth Amendment right not to testify.<sup>13</sup> Thus, counsel's decision not to present a third-party perpetrator defense was unreasonable, as his testimony establishes that he never contemplated using any alternative means of

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$  The State did not address this aspect of Mr. Mull's argument in its brief in the court of appeals and, as a result, the court of appeals concluded the point was conceded. *Mull II*, Appeal No. 2020AP1362-CR, ¶ 36. (App. 40). The State did not petition for review on this basis and has not renewed any arguments that alternative means of presenting the evidence were not available; accordingly, it has forfeited any such argument.

 $<sup>^{13}</sup>$  Counsel was told by the State that Tyler could not be located. (142:25). Trial counsel's failure to even consider asking the court to make a finding of unavailability so as to admit his inculpatory statements at that point is *per se* unreasonable.

presenting this evidence other than calling witnesses on Mr. Mull's behalf. Such oversight cannot produce an objectively reasonable strategic judgment. *Wiggins*, 539 U.S. at 534.

Accordingly, the evidence shows that trial counsel acted unreasonably in not presenting a third-party perpetrator defense. He did not conduct a sufficient investigation and never considered whether there were other means of presenting the testimony after concluding he was prevented from pursuing such a defense due to witness "unavailability." This is deficient performance.<sup>14</sup>

In its opinion remanding for a new trial, the court of appeals discussed the usefulness of these witnesses in establishing the third-party perpetrator defense. The State did not petition on this basis and has not raised any argument to this effect in its brief and has therefore forfeited the issue.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The court of appeals held that counsel's failure to call other witnesses supporting Mr. Mull's claim of innocence including other eyewitnesses who did not identify Mr. Mull as the shooter—was subsumed within its treatment of the thirdparty perpetrator issue. *Mull I*, Appeal No. 20181349-CR, ¶ 5. (App. 6). In his postconviction motion, Mr. Mull argued that counsel should have called Elicia Burrows, who did not identify Mr. Mull in a photo lineup, Charles Cantrell, another witness who did not pick Mr. Mull out of the lineup, and Demon Harris, who would offer corroborative testimony about the men by the door. (82:15).

C. The State's remaining arguments lack merit.

Having established counsel's performance was objectively unreasonable, Mr. Mull will briefly respond to the State's remaining arguments, all of which are unpersuasive.

1. The court of appeals correctly applied precedent.

In its petition for review and its brief to this Court, the State claims that the decision of the court of appeals rests on a misapplication of *State v*. *Kimbrough*, 2001 WI App 138, 246 Wis. 2d 648, 630 N.W.2d 752. It was due to this alleged "misapplication" that the State urged this Court to accept review. (State's Pet. at 5).<sup>15</sup>

The State claims *Kimbrough* creates a new standard for assessing ineffectiveness claims applicable "when the attorney's explanation is not credible." (State's Br. at 21). This is wrong.

Kimbrough is a fact-dependent decision that addresses an alleged failure to request a lesser-included instruction. Id.,  $\P$  24. Counsel testified at a hearing and explained he did not have a strategic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The "criteria for review" section of the petition cites only this alleged conflict as a basis for review. Because there is no actual conflict between these cases—and the court of appeals did not substantially rely on that decision for the outcome here this Court could consider dismissing this appeal as improvidently granted.

reason. Id. The circuit court exercised its authority as the arbiter of credibility and rejected that testimony. *Id.*, ¶ 30. Setting aside the factual dispute, the court of appeals labeled counsel's statements at the hearing as non-dispositive and concluded that his conduct was "objectively" reasonable. Id., ¶ 35. Thus, while the case deals with a unique scenario where a lower court attorney's concession of deficient rejects an performance, the court of appeals made clear that an affirmance was also required under the "objective reasonableness" standard.

Thus, contrary to the State's claim, Kimbrough does not create a new or different standard for evaluating ineffectiveness claims. Instead, it merely applies settled legal principles, which the court of appeals applied in its decision here. *Mull II*, 2020AP1362-CR, ¶ 36. (App. 40-41). As *Kimbrough* and *Mull* both restate the controlling law—strategic decisions of trial counsel must be objectively reasonable—it is difficult to understand how there is any perceived conflict. The State's reading of both *Mull* and *Kimbrough* is therefore flawed and, because there is no conflict between the two cases, there is no basis to reverse the court of appeals.

> 2. The court of appeals did not fail to defer to counsel's decisions; instead, it applied the correct standard of "objective reasonableness."

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